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1 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

2  Thank you, Your Honor.  May it please the Court.  We

3   call Christopher Wylie. 

4 MR. HARRIS:

5  Let me ask Mr. Wylie a very quick question just to

6  clarify one thing. 

7 THE COURT:

8   Yes, sir, take your time.

9 (OFF THE RECORD)

10 MR. HARRIS:

11   Your Honor, may we approach?

12 THE COURT:

13   Yes, sir.

14 (OFF THE RECORD)

15 THE COURT:

16   We are going to come back to Mr. Wylie.

17 (CASE IS STOOD DOWN)

18 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

19  May it please the Court.  Before you is Christopher

20  Austin Wylie.  He is pleading guilty on seven

21  indictments.  I’ll let the Court know at the outset

22  there is an overall negotiation in this case of 15

23  years concurrent.  He will be receiving on each case

24  the negotiated amount of time that I will set forth as

25  I call out the indictment, but the overall negotiation

3
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1  is 15 years concurrent.  The first indictment is 2018-

2  GS-11-819.  That is a true bill indictment for

3  possession with intent to distribute Alprazolam.  He is

4  pleading guilty as indicted with a negotiated sentence

5  of five years concurrent.  2018-GS-11-820, a true bill

6  indictment of possession of a firearm by a person

7  convicted of a violent crime.  He is pleading as

8  indicted with a negotiated sentence of five years

9  concurrent.  That prior violent offense is a burglary

10  second degree violent.  2018-GS-11-821 is a true bill

11  indictment for possession with intent to distribute

12  marijuana, pleading as indicted with a negotiated

13  sentence of ten years concurrent.  2018-GS-11-822, a

14  true bill indictment for unlawful carrying of a pistol,

15  pleading as indicted with a negotiated sentence of one

16  year concurrent.  2018-GS-11-823, a true bill

17  indictment for failure to stop when signaled by an

18  officer, pleading as indicted with a negotiated

19  sentence of three years concurrent.  2018-GS-11-824

20  count two is possession of a weapon during the

21  commission of a violent crime, pleading as indicted

22  with a negotiated sentence of five years concurrent. 

23  And 2018-GS-11-824 count one is a true bill indictment

24  for trafficking in methamphetamine between 28 and 100

25  grams, pleading to a second offense with a negotiated

4
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1  sentence of 15 years and $50,000.  The defendant is

2  represented by Mr. Harris on all charges.  I’m handing

3  up the seven sentencing sheets along with the guilty

4  plea information sheet and the RAP sheet attached.

5 THE COURT:

6  Thank you.  All right, sir, you are Christopher Austin

7   Wylie; is that correct?

8 MR. WYLIE:

9  Yes, ma’am.

10 THE COURT:

11  Okay, Mr. Wylie, we started this hearing a few moments

12  ago.  Actually I guess it’s been about 45 minutes ago,

13  and we stood down to give you an opportunity to talk

14  with your lawyer.  Do you need any additional time to

15  speak with him?

16 MR. WYLIE:

17   No, ma’am.

18 THE COURT:

19  If, sir, during this hearing you feel the need to ask

20  questions of Mr. Harris, I will be happy to allow you

21  to do so, okay?  We’ll take a break if you need that,

22  all right?

23 MR. WYLIE:

24   Yes, ma’am.

25 THE COURT:

5
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1      All right.  And so, sir, you were previously qualified

2      this morning; is that correct?

3 MR. WYLIE:

4      Yes, ma’am.

5 THE COURT:

6      I need for you to speak up.

7 MR. WYLIE:

8      Yes, ma’am. 

9 THE COURT:  

10      And sir, if I were to ask you all of those questions

11      again at this time, would your answers be the same?

12 MR. WYLIE:

13      Yes, ma’am.

14 THE COURT:

15      All right.  Sir, I’m going to go through the

16      indictments with you and the charge as to each at this

17      time, after which I’m going to hear from the Deputy

18      Solicitor, Ms. Leskanic; I’m going to hear from your

19      lawyer, Mr. Harris; and lastly, sir, I will hear from

20      you, okay, before I issue the sentence.  So don’t

21      worry, you do have an opportunity to tell me anything

22      that you want to.

23 MR. WYLIE:

24      Yes, ma’am.

25 THE COURT:
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1  And sir, this is coming before me today, as I

2  understand it, as a negotiated sentence.  And what that

3  tells me, first of all, is that there’s been a lot of

4  time put into this before today, and I’m assuming that

5  you’ve had some input in talking with your lawyer

6  concerning that negotiated sentence.  And if -- and I’m

7  going to tell you this again in a few minutes.  But if

8  I find that I can’t go along with the negotiations of

9  counsel, I can reject this plea or I -- if I find I can

10  go along with it, I can accept the plea.  But I cannot

11  change the negotiations that have been made.  Do you

12  understand that?

13 MR. WYLIE:

14   Yes, ma’am.

15 THE COURT:

16  Okay.  And again, if you have any questions about

17  anything as we go along, you stop me, all right?  And

18  you’re not on any type of medication?

19 MR. WYLIE:

20   No, ma’am.

21 THE COURT:

22  All right, thank you.  All right.  So, Mr. Wylie, I

23  have a true billed indictment and this is indictment

24 18-GS-11-824, and this is an indictment for trafficking

25  in methamphetamine.  It’s a two count indictment.  As

7
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1      to count one, it’s trafficking in methamphetamine, and

2      count two is possession of a firearm during the

3      commission of a violent crime.  And sir, it’s my

4      understanding that the weight involved was more than 28

5      grams but less than 100 grams and that you are pleading

6      as a second offense.  The mandatory minimum sentence as

7      to count one is seven years with a maximum of 30 years

8      and a $50,000 fine.  So sir, first let me ask, as to

9      count one of indictment 18-824, do you understand the

10      offense that you’re entering your plea to?

11 MR. WYLIE:

12      Yes, ma’am.

13 THE COURT:

14      Do you understand the potential penalty?

15 MR. WYLIE:

16      Yes, ma’am.

17 THE COURT:

18      And sir, I’m sure that Mr. Harris has discussed this

19      with you, but this is classified as a violent and a

20      serious offense.  Do you have any questions for him or

21      for me regarding that classification, sir?

22 MR. WYLIE:

23      No, ma’am.

24 THE COURT:

25      And has that been explained to you prior to today?

8
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1 MR. WYLIE:

2      Yes, ma’am.

3 THE COURT:

4      And today?

5 MR. WYLIE:

6      Yes, ma’am.

7 THE COURT:

8      All right.  And as to count two, sir, or A on true

9      billed indictment 18–824(A), you have been charged with

10      possession of a weapon during the commission of a

11      violent crime.  The potential penalty, sir, is five

12      years, and the five years, sir, is mandatory.  Do you

13      understand that?

14 MR. WYLIE:

15      Yes, ma’am.

16 THE COURT:

17      Has that been explained to you?

18 MR. WYLIE:

19      Yes, ma’am.

20 THE COURT:

21      Do you have any questions about that?

22 MR. WYLIE:

23      No, ma’am.

24 THE COURT:

25      All right.  I have a true billed indictment 18-GS-11-

9
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1  823 and that was for failure to stop a motor vehicle

2  when signaled by an officer, and the potential penalty

3  as a first offense is 90 days up to three years and/or

4 –– or a fine of not less than $500 and the 90 days can

5  be suspended.  On that indictment, sir, do you

6  understand the offense that you’re entering your plea

7  to?

8 MR. WYLIE:

9   Yes, ma’am.

10 THE COURT:

11   Do understand the potential penalty?

12 MR. WYLIE:

13   Yes, ma’am.

14 THE COURT:

15  With regard to indictment 18-GS-11-822, that’s the

16  unlawful carrying of a pistol.  It is a true billed

17  indictment for unlawful carrying of a firearm and the

18  potential penalty is zero to one year and/or a fine of

19  up to $1,000.  As to that indictment, do you understand

20  the offense that you’re entering your plea to?

21 MR. WYLIE:

22   Yes, ma’am.

23 THE COURT:

24   Do you understand the potential penalty?

25 MR. WYLIE:

10
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1      Yes, ma’am.

2 THE COURT:

3      And I have indictment 18–821, and this is a true billed

4      indictment for possession with intent to distribute

5      marijuana.  This is a second offense.  The potential

6      penalty is zero to ten years and/or a fine of up to

7      $10,000.  On this indictment, do you understand the

8      potential penalty?

9 MR. WYLIE:

10      Yes, ma’am.

11 THE COURT:

12      And the offense that you’re entering your plea to?

13 MR. WYLIE:

14      Yes, ma’am.

15 THE COURT:

16      I have indictment 18-GS-11-820, and this is a true

17      billed indictment for possession of a firearm or

18      ammunition by a person convicted of a violent felony. 

19      The potential penalty is zero to five years and/or a

20      fine of up to $2,000.  Sir, do you understand the

21      offense that you’re entering your plea to under this

22      indictment?

23 MR. WYLIE:

24      Yes, ma’am.

25 THE COURT:

11
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1      And the potential penalty?

2 MR. WYLIE:

3      Yes, ma’am.

4 THE COURT:

5      And I have indictment 18-GS-11-819, and this is a true

6      billed indictment for possession with intent to

7      distribute Alprazolam.  The potential penalty –– this

8      is a second or subsequent offense and the potential

9      penalty is zero to five years and/or a fine of up to

10      $6,000.  Sir, do you understand the offense that you’re

11      entering your plea to under this indictment?

12 MR. WYLIE:

13      Yes, ma’am.

14 THE COURT:

15      And do you understand the potential penalty?

16 MR. WYLIE:

17      Yes, ma’am.

18 THE COURT:

19      All right.  Now, Mr. Wylie, sir, the negotiated

20      sentence that I have heard stated on the record and

21      that I’m seeing on the paperwork before me is that,

22      with regard to these seven indictments, the sentence

23      that’s been agreed to by counsel is 15 years concurrent

24      and a $50,000 fine.  And I’m sure you understand that

25      the fine is mandatory, okay?  And so understanding all

12
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1  of that, sir, do you wish to enter your plea at this

2   time on all of these charges?

3 MR. WYLIE:

4  Yes, ma’am.

5 THE COURT:

6   And how do you plead?

7 MR. WYLIE:

8   Guilty.

9 THE COURT:

10   Are you doing so freely, knowingly, and voluntarily?

11 MR. WYLIE:

12   Yes, ma’am.

13 THE COURT:

14  All right.  Thank you, sir.  If you will now direct

15  your attention to Deputy Solicitor Leskanic, please. 

16  Yes, ma’am.

17 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

18  May it please the Court.  This incident occurred April

19  14th of 2018.  Deputy Hutchins with the Cherokee County

20  Sheriff’s Department was on routine patrol.  He noticed

21  a vehicle around midnight weaving back and forth and

22  not maintaining its lane of travel, so he turned on his

23  blue lights to try to make a traffic stop.  This

24  defendant was driving the car.  He increased his speed,

25  continued down 8th Street, he ran several stop signs,

13
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1      made several turns throughout Cherokee County until he

2      finally lost control of the vehicle and wrecked into

3      two parked cars in front of a residence on East Oneal

4      Street.  Officers immediately got out with him.  Search

5      incident to arrest, in his right front pants packet

6      they found a baggie containing marijuana and two bags

7      containing methamphetamine.  Those two bags were sent

8      to SLED, Your Honor.  In one bag that was tested, it

9      was confirmed to be methamphetamine with a net weight

10      of 55.55 grams.  The second bag was not tested, but the

11      weight was 14.24 grams.  In his other pants pocket they

12      found a large sum of cash and a pill bottle containing

13      Alprazolam pills for which he did not have a

14      prescription for.  They also found a 38 revolver in his

15      sock.  They asked the defendant if he had anything else

16      on his person or in the vehicle and he told them that

17      there was more drugs in the car inside a red bag.  The

18      officer went into the car, on the passenger side

19      floorboard they found a 40 caliber Ruger pistol, and on

20      the driver’s side floorboard in a red bag they found

21      several other baggies containing marijuana.  He was

22      then charged with the failure to stop; the trafficking

23      in methamphetamine; possession of a weapon during the

24      commission of a violent crime, that violent crime being

25      the trafficking methamphetamine; possession of a weapon
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1  by someone convicted of a violent crime, that violent

2  crime was a burglary second degree violent; unlawful

3  possession of a pistol; possession with intent to

4  distribute marijuana; and possession with intent to

5  distribute Alprazolam.

6 THE COURT:

7  Okay.  All right, Mr. Wylie, you heard the statements

8   of the solicitor.  Is that what happened?

9 MR. WYLIE:

10  Yes, ma’am.

11 THE COURT:

12  All right, thank you.  I find there is a factual basis

13  for your plea.  And Ms. Leskanic, there are -- are

14  there charges being dismissed in consideration for the

15  plea?

16 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

17  There are, Your Honor.  There are no charges from this

18  incident that are being dismissed, but the defendant

19  was charged with an incident in February and also in

20  May and those charges are being dismissed.

21 THE COURT:

22   Okay.  Mr. Wylie, do you understand that?

23 MR. WYLIE:

24   Yes, ma’am.

25 THE COURT:

15
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1      Do you have any questions about that for me or for Mr.

2      Harris?

3 MR. WYLIE:

4      No, ma’am.

5 THE COURT:

6      Okay.  Anything -- I’ll come back to you for the

7      criminal history and prior convictions, but anything

8      else before I go now to Mr. Harris?

9 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

10      No, Your Honor.  I believe Mr. Harris and I may have a

11      difference of opinion on the credit for time served. 

12      But if you’d like to hear from him first, I would just

13      like to be heard on that.

14 THE COURT:

15      Sure.  Okay.  So, Mr. Harris, I’ve known you for, I

16      guess, 30 years and I know how thorough you are, and

17      I’ve certainly tried a great number of cases against

18      Mr. Harris in years past.  With regard to the

19      discovery, I heard that some of the drugs were not

20      tested.  And is your client waiving that?

21 MR. HARRIS:

22      Well, Your Honor, the threshold amount to which he is

23      pleading is exceeded by almost twice the limit with the

24      testing of the one bag.  I have shared that information

25      with Mr. Wylie and he has raised no concern, and I have

16
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1      no concern since the State is going forward with a plea

2      to 28 but less than 100.  It’s clearly tested out to be

3      55 grams, so we don’t --

4 THE COURT:

5      Yes, sir.

6 MR. HARRIS:

7      We do not raise any issue concerning --

8 THE COURT:

9      Okay, and I just wanted to confirm that.  Mr. Wylie, is

10      that your understanding?

11 MR. WYLIE:

12      Yes, ma’am.

13 THE COURT:

14      All right, thank you.  And so, Mr. Harris, you’ve had

15      an opportunity to review the evidence in the case with

16      your client?

17 MR. HARRIS:

18      Yes, Your Honor.

19 THE COURT:

20      Okay.  I’m happy to hear from you, sir.

21 MR. HARRIS:

22      Thank you, Your Honor.  May it please the Court.  I

23      will say that Mr. Wylie’s only 21 years of age.  This

24      is a different case in many respects, that being one of

25      them.  In candor, though, as I’ve discussed with my

17
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1      client, as is plain to see, Mr. Wylie comes to this

2      point in the criminal process in large part because of

3      the mistakes -- serious mistakes that he’s made in his

4      young life, having been convicted of burglary in the

5      second degree violent in the past, having been

6      convicted before of drug trafficking and other things. 

7      We have indeed worked very hard and, I would like to

8      say, diligently with the solicitor’s office, Ms. Wells

9      in particular, to arrive at this negotiated plea.  I

10      will say I wish that I could have negotiated better. 

11      Having said that, it is my opinion, stated to my

12      client, that this plea has substantial benefits for Mr.

13      Wylie and I’ve recommended that he accept it.  He’s

14      indicated that he will accept the plea.  Your Honor,

15      this case has a rather convoluted procedural history. 

16      So in terms of time served and so forth, it would be

17      necessary for me to explain a couple of things about

18      what’s gone on before today.  As the Court now knows,

19      Mr. Wylie was convicted by guilty plea of burglary in

20      the second degree violent and was sentenced to ten

21      years.  Provided upon the service of three years, the

22      balance was suspended to probation for five years with

23      other conditions.  Mr. Wylie was arrested three times

24      while on probation; a February incident relating to an

25      alleged pointing and presenting of a firearm, these

18
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1      charges in April of 2018, and another set of drug

2      trafficking charges from May of 2018.  As the Deputy

3      Solicitor has already indicated, the February and May

4      charges are being dismissed wholly at the conclusion of

5      this plea.  But in October of last year, Mr. Wylie was

6      brought before the court for violation of probation

7      here related in large part to his re-arrest.  There

8      were some other alleged violations, but allegedly

9      violations for these arrests.  Mr. Wylie had three

10      years revoked and his probation ended last October.  He

11      is currently doing a three year revocation sentence in

12      the Department of Corrections.  He began that sentence

13      in the Department of Corrections October 23rd, 2018. 

14      Now, Mr. Wylie was arrested on the incident charges on

15      April 14th, 2018.  He was released one day later on

16      bond.  He remained on bond until re-arrested on May

17      10th, 2018.  He was arrested for the May set of drug

18      charges.  He has never gotten out of custody since

19      then.  So Mr. Wylie has been continuously in either the

20      custody of the Cherokee County detention center or in

21      the Department of Corrections since May 10th, 2018.  I

22      will -- it’s incumbent upon me, I believe, to have the

23      Court at least be aware of that, while Mr. Wylie has

24      continuously been in custody either in the County or in

25      the Department of Corrections since May 10th, 2018, Mr.

19
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1      Wylie’s bond on this set of charges was never formally

2      revoked, although a pending motion for bond has --

3      there has been a pending motion to revoke bond since

4      sometime after May 10th, 2018.  Nonetheless, he has

5      been continuously in custody.  So with that said, I am

6      asking the Court to accept the negotiation to sentence

7      Mr. Wylie to 15 years, all concurrent with the charges

8      he is pleading guilty to today and concurrent with his

9      Department of Corrections probation revocation sentence

10      under indictment number 15-GS-11-00087.  I’m further

11      asking that the Court exercise what I believe is its

12      discretion to give credit to Mr. Wylie for all of the

13      time that he has been in custody in whatever facility

14      as has been stated.  My calculation, if that were to be

15      the Court’s decision, would mean that Mr. Wylie would

16      receive 545 days of total credit for time served.  The

17      State has informed me that they do object to Mr. Wylie

18      receiving any credit for time he has served in the

19      Department of Corrections.  I believe it’s in the

20      discretion of the sentencing court to grant time served

21      or not grant time served.  In other words, I think the

22      Court would not err by failing to do it for that period

23      of time, nor would the Court err in granting it.  But

24      that period of time in the Department of Corrections is

25      377 days, by my calculation.  So if the Court were not

20
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1      inclined to grant credit for time served in the

2      Department of Corrections but grant credit for time

3      served in the County detention center, that would be a

4      total of 166 days of credit. 

5 THE COURT:

6      Okay.

7 MR. HARRIS:

8      I apologize for the -- I told you it was convoluted,

9      and it is --

10 THE COURT:

11      Well, and so the question, though -- what is the

12      State’s position on sentencing concurrent with 15-87?

13 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

14      We have no objection to this sentence running

15      concurrently with the current probation violation

16      sentence that he is serving in the Department of

17      Corrections.

18 THE COURT:

19      Okay.  All right.  Okay, so Mr. Harris, you have

20      addressed the credit for time served and the probation

21      violation being a concurrent sentence.  Is there

22      anything else, sir, that you want to address?

23 MR. HARRIS:

24      Your Honor, we would ask the Court to accept the

25      negotiation as has been put forth in his plea.

21
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1 THE COURT:

2      Okay.  And did you discuss with your client at length

3      his plea under indictment 18-824(A) which is the

4      possession of a weapon during a violet crime, the

5      mandatory five years?

6 MR. HARRIS:

7      We have discussed that and we -- we understand that

8      that would be five years but that it could be

9      concurrent.

10 THE COURT:

11      Yes, sir.

12 MR. HARRIS:

13      But we do understand that -- and actually, as I believe

14      the sentencing sheets would reflect and as I recited to

15      Mr. Wylie as I asked him to review and sign each of

16      them, there is -- since several of the offenses carry

17      mandatory -- carry maximums less than the 15 year

18      negotiated, that the State is essentially negotiating a

19      maximum incarceration sentence on each of the several

20      charges that carry lesser time.

21 THE COURT:

22      Yes, sir.  Okay, thank you.  All right.  Mr. Wylie,

23      before I hear from you, sir, let me hear from the State

24      regarding prior convictions.

25 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

22
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1      Yes, Your Honor.  2014, burglary second degree violent.

2      2015, there are three counts of possession of a

3      Schedule I or II drug, possession with intent to

4      distribute a Schedule I through III, unlawful carrying

5      of a weapon, and trafficking in crack cocaine, which

6      would be another violent offense on his record along

7      with that burglary charge.  Also a distribution of

8      methamphetamine and distribution of methamphetamine

9      within proximity of a school.  2018, some traffic

10      offenses including a DUI and driving under suspension. 

11      And in 2018, the violation of probation that Your Honor

12      is aware he’s currently serving time for. 

13 THE COURT:

14      Okay.  Okay, Mr. Wylie, is there anything that you’d

15      like to tell me, sir?

16 MR. WYLIE:

17      No, ma’am.

18 THE COURT:

19      Do you agree with the statements of your attorney?

20 MR. WYLIE:

21      Yes, ma’am.

22 THE COURT:

23      And do you understand that this is before me to accept

24      or reject the negotiations of counsel?

25 MR. WYLIE:
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1      Yes, ma’am.

2 THE COURT:

3      And is that what you want me to do?  Do you want me to

4      accept it?

5 MR. WYLIE:

6      Yes, ma’am.

7 THE COURT:

8      Thank you.

9 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

10      Your Honor, I’m sorry.  At the appropriate time, may I

11      be heard on the credit for time served?

12 THE COURT:

13      Yes, ma’am, I’m sorry. 

14 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

15      That’s okay.  Thank you.  I believe under State v.

16      Crooks, a defendant is only entitled to credit for time

17      that they are serving on the charge that they are

18      pleading to.  So technically, I believe, the defendant

19      is entitled to one day.  That’s how much time he spent

20      on these April charges. He was then arrested in May,

21      but his bond on these charges were -- was not revoked. 

22      So he was being held in the detention center on a

23      completely separate set of charges that did not relate

24      back to these April charges.  So I do not believe he’s

25      entitled to credit for that.  And also, when he was

24
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1      sent to the Department of Corrections, he was serving

2      time on a probation violation, but again, not serving

3      time on these April charges.  And I believe that

4      statutorily and case law provides that they’re only to

5      receive credit for time that they are serving on the

6      charge that they are before the Court on.

7 THE COURT:

8      Okay.  Mr. Harris, anything else?

9 MR. HARRIS:

10      Well, Your Honor, as I’ve stated on behalf of the

11      defendant, I believe it is in the discretion of the

12      sentencing Court to grant credit for time served if the

13      Court sees fit.  The way I read that case is that - and

14      I think it was the holding in that case - that a judge

15      refusing to give credit in that case was not considered

16      error.  I don’t read that to mean that a court choosing

17      to grant credit would be in error.  I think it’s a

18      discretionary matter.  But it is correct, by my review

19      of all the records, that, as I’ve stated, Mr. Wylie did

20      one day on these charges, bonded out, got re-arrested

21      less than a month later, has been continuously in

22      custody but -- and although subject to the State’s

23      motion for revocation, that motion essentially was

24      never heard because of the probation revocation. 

25 THE COURT:

25
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1      And those are the charges that are being dismissed?

2 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

3      Yes, Your Honor.

4 THE COURT:

5      In consideration for this plea?

6 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

7      Yes, Your Honor.  And I --

8 MR. HARRIS:

9      That’s right.

10 DEPUTY SOLICITOR LESKANIC:

11      Again, that’s another case that’s being handled by Ms.

12      Wells, so I’m not familiar with the facts of that case. 

13      I’m sorry.

14 THE COURT:

15      Yes, ma’am, and thank you for standing in today.  I’m

16      glad we can go forward with this.  Okay.  So Mr. Wylie,

17      sir, again, is there anything that you’d like to tell

18      me?

19 MR. WYLIE:

20      No, ma’am.

21 THE COURT:

22      All right.  Okay, with regard to the matter of the

23      State versus Christopher Austin Wylie and indictment

24      2018-GS-11-824, it would be the order of the Court that

25      I am going to accept the negotiations of counsel and

26
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1      order that the defendant be committed to the State

2      Department of Corrections for 15 years and pay a fine

3      of $50,000.  This is concurrent with his probation

4      violation on 15-87.  I am going to give him credit for

5      166 days.  A concurrent sentence is as to indictment

6      18-821 in which the defendant shall be committed to the

7      State Department of Corrections for 10 years.  Again,

8      these are concurrent sentences.  He will get the same

9      credit for time served as to each and all will be

10      concurrent with his probation violation on indictment

11      15-87.  As to indictments 18-GS-11-824(A) and 18-820

12      and 819, the defendant shall be committed to the State

13      Department of Corrections for five years.  With regard

14      to indictment 18-823, the defendant shall be committed

15      to the State Department of Corrections for three years. 

16      And on 18-822, the defendant shall be committed to the

17      State Department of Corrections for one year.  Good

18      luck to you, sir.

19

20 (HEARING CONCLUDED)

21

22

23

24

25  
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PROCEEDINGS 1 

   (On the Record at 10:48 a.m.) 2 

THE COURT:  All right.  We’re here on Case 3 

Number -- Christopher A. Wylie, Case Number 4 

2020-CP-11-0662.  Ms. Marto?   5 

MS. MARTO:  Yes, Your Honor.  Thank you.  May 6 

it please the Court.  Mr. Wylie is presently 7 

confined in the South Carolina Department of 8 

Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment 9 

from the Cherokee County Clerk of Court.   10 

During its June 2018 term, he was 11 

indicted for pointing and presenting a firearm 12 

at a person, possession with intent to 13 

distribute Alprazolam, possession of a firearm 14 

or ammunition by a person convicted of a 15 

violent felony, possession with intent to 16 

distribute marijuana, unlawful carrying of a 17 

firearm, failure to stop a motor vehicle when 18 

signaled by an officer, and trafficking of 19 

methamphetamine, possession of a firearm 20 

during the commission of a violent crime.  He 21 

was represented by Mr. Ricky Harris, and 22 

assistant solicitor, Kimberly Leskanic, 23 

prosecuted the case.   24 

On November 5, 2019, he appeared before 25 
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the Honorable Grace Knie and pled guilty to a 1 

negotiated 15 years imprisonment for the 2 

charge ending with Docket Number 824, ten 3 

years imprisonment on the 821 charge, five 4 

years imprisonment on 819, 820, and 824 counts 5 

and three years on the 823 and one year for 6 

the 822.  And then another additional charge 7 

was dismissed, and that would have been the 8 

possession of -- for presenting of a firearm 9 

at a person.  All sentences ran concurrently, 10 

and he was sentenced according to the 11 

negotiations.  He did not pursue a direct 12 

appeal.  Post-conviction relief application 13 

was filed September 8th, 2020, and the return 14 

was made May 18th, 2021.  With that, I’ll turn 15 

it over to Mr. Richey.   16 

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Richey?   17 

MR. RICHEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I’ll call 18 

Mr. Wylie.   19 

THE COURT:  You step up here, Mr. Wylie?  20 

THE COURT REPORTER:  Put your left hand on the 21 

Bible and raise your right.    22 

THE APPLICANT:  You want me to swear on the 23 

Bible?   24 

THE COURT REPORTER:  Uh-huh.   25 
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THE APPLICANT:  What if that ain't my 1 

religion?   2 

THE COURT REPORTER:  Oh, okay.  All right.  3 

You can affirm.  4 

THE COURT:  You can affirm, then.  5 

THE COURT REPORTER:  Okay.   6 

(WHEREUPON, the applicant was sworn.) 7 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 8 

BY MR. RICHEY:   9 

Q Sir, would you state your name, please?   10 

A Christopher Wylie.   11 

Q I didn't --  12 

THE COURT:  (To the applicant)  You can -- you 13 

can take it down.   14 

A Christopher Wylie.   15 

Q Okay.  Come up some, Mr. Wylie.  And get closer to 16 

the mic.   17 

THE COURT:  (To the applicant)  Pull that mic 18 

to you a little bit.   19 

Q Mr. Wylie, are you in the Department of 20 

Corrections?   21 

A Yes, sir.   22 

Q And what are you there for?   23 

A Trafficking.   24 

Q Trafficking what?   25 
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A Methamphetamine.  1 

Q Okay.   2 

THE COURT:  (To the applicant)  And if you 3 

would, can you --  4 

THE COURT REPORTER:  Speak up.  5 

THE COURT:  -- speak up a little bit.  She's 6 

got to take down everything you say, okay?   7 

THE APPLICANT:  All right.   8 

Q Okay.  And who represented you on your charges?   9 

A Ricky Harris.   10 

Q And can you talk a little bit louder.  I'm sorry.   11 

A Ricky Harris.   12 

Q Okay.  And you filed an application for post-13 

conviction relief because you think Mr. Harris did 14 

not properly represent you; is that correct?   15 

A Correct.   16 

Q Okay.  You entered into a plea negotiation with the 17 

State; is that correct?   18 

A Correct.   19 

Q And -- and they recommended or did a negotiated 20 

sentence in this case; is this correct?   21 

A Yes, sir.   22 

Q And what was that negotiation?   23 

A Fifteen -- 15.   24 

Q Okay.  Did you talk to your lawyer about what that 25 
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meant, the negotiated sentence?  1 

A I mean, kind of, yeah.  I mean, I didn't know.  I 2 

didn't even know what was going on.  I -- I didn't 3 

know.   4 

Q He --  5 

A I was young.  I didn't know.  6 

Q He didn't tell you about the judge had to sentence 7 

you to the negotiation and not sentence you?  Did 8 

he talk to you about that?   9 

A I only seen him one time.   10 

Q You what?   11 

A I only seen him one time.   12 

Q One time?  Now, where was that at when you saw him?   13 

A That was the week before court.   14 

Q Okay.  And when you saw him, what'd y'all talk 15 

about?   16 

A He just brought me my motion.   17 

Q Okay.  You-all talked about the discovery?   18 

A I mean, basically, but he -- I mean, he was just -- 19 

it was just you take the 15 and that's what it is, 20 

you know what I'm saying?  It wasn't nothing --21 

nothing else.  No talking.  No nothing.   22 

Q Did you want to have a trial?   23 

A No.  That -- that's what they was saying.  They 24 

said, because they had kept me in confinement for 25 
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three weeks -- see what I'm saying -- because I 1 

wouldn't take the 15 --  2 

Q Okay.  3 

A -- but it came down to, you know, take the 15 or 4 

I'm going go to trial (as spoken), you know.  And I 5 

wasn't -- I wasn't trying to go trial.   6 

Q Okay.  You didn't think your case was good enough 7 

that you were going to be found not guilty by a 8 

jury?   9 

A I -- I guess so, yes, sir.   10 

Q Okay.  And so -- but you believe that Mr. Harris 11 

did not do any investigation in your case?   12 

A Yes, sir.   13 

Q Okay.  What investigation did you want him to do?   14 

A The -- I mean, the mitigating.   15 

Q The what?   16 

A The mitigating.   17 

Q What's -- say that again.   18 

A Mitigating.   19 

Q Mitigation?   20 

A Mitigation.   21 

Q Okay.  Okay.  So you wanted him to bring proper 22 

mitigation to court?   23 

A Yeah.  The -- like the documents to prove me.  To 24 

prove the things that I'm trying to say, you know 25 
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what I'm saying.  It was -- it was -- none of that 1 

was in it or nothing like -- it wasn't -- I was -- 2 

I didn't never see him but one time.   3 

Q Okay.  And -- and tell me what the mitigation is 4 

exactly.   5 

A It's doing an investigation into your background.   6 

Q Okay.  So you think he should have did more of a 7 

background, holistic approach of who you were, 8 

correct?   9 

A Correct.   10 

Q And you believe if he had done that, we would have 11 

changed negotiation?   12 

A Maybe before.  13 

Q Okay.  But you do understand that the judge had to 14 

sentence you to 15 years under that -- the way it 15 

was done?   16 

A Right. 17 

Q Right?   18 

A Yes.   19 

Q And -- and did you tell Mr. Harris, "Hey, I don't 20 

want 15 years"?   21 

A I -- I told him I didn't want to go to trial.   22 

Q Okay.  But did you tell him, "I don't want the 15-23 

year deal?"   24 

A Of course.   25 
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Q Okay.  And what was his response to that?   1 

A The 15.   2 

Q Okay.  Okay.  So you believe if he had had proper 3 

mitigation that your negotiation would ultimately 4 

went down?   5 

A That and the insignificant -- the insignificance -- 6 

am I saying it right?   7 

Q Yes.  So go -- just talk.   8 

A I'm making sure I'm saying it right, though.   9 

Q Yeah.  You're all right.   10 

A With that, yes, sir.  With that right there being 11 

the process, yeah.   12 

Q Okay.  What happened in the case?   13 

A Whatcha mean?   14 

Q Does it mean -- how -- how did the cops -- how did 15 

you get charged with this?   16 

A The police had got behind me, and I took them on a 17 

high-speed chase, you know what I'm saying?  And it 18 

-- I guess, like I --  19 

THE COURT REPORTER:  I can't hear him.   20 

THE COURT:  Can you speak up just a little?  21 

She's got to take down everything you say.   22 

THE APPLICANT:  Yes, sir.   23 

Q Go ahead.   24 

A Shoot.  And I had took them on a high-speed chase 25 
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and I had crashed the car and I had drugs and guns 1 

on me, you know what I'm saying?   2 

Q Okay.   3 

A And that was pretty much how it happened.   4 

Q Okay.  How old were you when this happened?   5 

A Like 20 -- 19 or 20.   6 

Q Twenty years old?   7 

A (Nods head up and down.)   8 

Q Okay.  And you believe Mr. Harris should have done 9 

more because of your age?   10 

A Yes, sir.   11 

Q Okay.  All right.   12 

MR. RICHEY:  Answer any questions the Attorney 13 

General has for you.   14 

THE COURT:  All right.  Cross?   15 

MS. MARTO:  Yes, Your Honor.   16 

CROSS-EXAMINATION  17 

BY MS. MARTO:  18 

Q Good morning, sir.   19 

A Good morning.   20 

Q Now, at the plea hearing, the judge told you that 21 

she was bound to the negotiations, right?  That she 22 

couldn't change the sentence?   23 

A Yes, ma'am.   24 

Q And so she told you she could either reject the 25 
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offer or not, but that she couldn't give you less 1 

time at the hearing?   2 

A Yes, ma'am.   3 

Q Now, you stated you didn't want to go to trial on 4 

this, correct?   5 

A Yes, ma'am.   6 

Q And is that still the case?  You'd still rather 7 

plea over a trial in retrospect?  8 

A Yes, ma'am.   9 

Q Now, do you -- did you want the mitigation evidence 10 

to be offered to the solicitor when they were 11 

trying to work out the plea deal, or did you want 12 

it stated on the record at the plea hearing?   13 

A The first one you ever said was like before --  14 

Q Okay.   15 

A -- before the trial, right?   16 

Q Okay.  But did Mr. Harris say that he had found you 17 

the best plea offer he could, and it's that or go 18 

to trial?   19 

A Yes, ma'am.   20 

Q Now, do you think, given the facts, you would have 21 

been found guilty at trial?   22 

A Yes, ma’am.   23 

Q And you agreed to the facts on the record at the 24 

plea hearing, right?   25 
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A Yes, ma'am.   1 

MS. MARTO:  No further questions, Your Honor.  2 

THE COURT:  All right.  (To Mr. Richey)  Any 3 

redirect?  4 

MR. RICHEY:  No other questions.  We call Mr. 5 

Harris.  6 

THE COURT:  All right.  (To the applicant)  7 

You may step down.  All right.  8 

MR. RICHEY:  Excuse me, Judge.   9 

THE COURT:  (To the applicant)  You may step 10 

down.   11 

   (WHEREUPON, the applicant is excused.) 12 

(WHEREUPON, the witness is sworn.)  13 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 14 

BY MR. RICHEY:   15 

Q Sir, can you state your name, please?   16 

A Ricky Harris.   17 

Q Mr. Harris, are you an attorney in Spartanburg?   18 

A Yes.   19 

Q Do you recall representing Christopher Wylie?   20 

A Yes.   21 

Q And -- and you were in the courtroom and heard the 22 

testimony.  Is there any mitigation you could have 23 

presented to help him get this negotiation reduced 24 

from 15 years?   25 
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A I assume from hearing Mr. Wylie's testimony just 1 

now that he is referring to things that I might 2 

have discussed with the solicitor's office in 3 

negotiating his case.  And, my understanding -- 4 

that's my understanding.  And to the extent that it 5 

was possible, I did that.   6 

Q And -- and the facts of the case, were they 7 

essentially what he testified to?   8 

A Yes, sir.   9 

Q Okay.  And in getting the case, did -- did you talk 10 

to him prior to the guilty plea and all that?   11 

A Yes.  I did.   12 

Q And I think he testified you talked to him one 13 

time; is that correct?   14 

A That is incorrect.  I talked to him more than that.   15 

Q Okay.  And when you talked to him, was the talk 16 

centered around the -- the case and the 17 

negotiations and all that?   18 

A The discussions always involved the status of his 19 

case, the discovery in the case, and I represented 20 

him on more than one set of charges.  He had 21 

several sets of charges.  The April charges that he 22 

ultimately pled guilty to, probably involved the 23 

most serious single allegation, which was 24 

trafficking more than 28 grams.  We discussed the 25 
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facts and circumstances of all of those cases.  We 1 

eventually honed in on the trafficking charges, the 2 

traffic -- the high-speed chase, the traffic 3 

accident that he has referenced to.   4 

We discussed plea negotiations several times.  5 

We discussed why was the solicitor taking this 6 

attitude about his case.  We speculated about that 7 

quite a bit.  So all of those things over the 8 

course of various phone calls and in-person 9 

meetings.   10 

Q You said "the April set."  Did he have another set 11 

of cases before or after the April?  Do you recall?   12 

A The -- I don't remember off the top of my head.  I 13 

do know that when I first started representing Mr. 14 

Wylie, he had a violation of probation matter 15 

pending, so that tells me that he had convictions 16 

certainly predating some of his arrest; and then he 17 

was -- had been arrested, I think, two or three 18 

times.  He was arrested in, I believe, in May of 19 

2018, it was certainly the April incident; and I 20 

believe there was one other.   21 

Q Did you discuss with him about the negotiation 22 

versus recommendations or anything the judge was 23 

bound by the sentence?  24 

A Yes.   25 
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Q Okay.  And did you discuss with him that the judge 1 

being bound by that sentence there's really not 2 

much you can do if he accept (as spoken) that 3 

negotiation?   4 

A Well, let -- let me answer this way -- that is 5 

correct.  Let me answer this way:  I discussed with 6 

Mr. Wylie when we discussed the State's plea offer, 7 

and these negotiations took place during the summer 8 

leading up to his November plea.  So we went back 9 

and forth with the solicitor's office during that 10 

whole summer and fall.  And I told Mr. Wylie that I 11 

didn't agree with the State's position about his 12 

case, that I thought that they were being too harsh 13 

with what they wanted from the case.  And I tried 14 

to explain to him, although it is a matter of 15 

speculation, of course, on my part, but pretty 16 

educated speculation, of why they were taking the 17 

approach they were taking, but that I was trying to 18 

get the best I could get for him.   19 

We talked about trying to convince the State 20 

to come off the -- insisting on a 15-year sentence 21 

as a bottom line from the State, 15 years, by 22 

allowing him to plead to a range of 10 to 15 years, 23 

and give some discretion to the Court, but the 24 

State refused to agree to that.    25 
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Q Thank you.   1 

MR. RICHEY:  Answer any questions the Attorney 2 

General has.   3 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 4 

BY MS. MARTO:   5 

Q Good morning, sir.   6 

A Good morning.   7 

Q So just to confirm, you think all the mitigation 8 

evidence that he brought up in court today was 9 

already brought up to the solicitor; is that fair 10 

to say?   11 

A Well, I didn't hear any mitigation evidence today.  12 

He --  13 

Q Okay.   14 

A He said there was some, but I didn't hear any --  15 

Q Okay.   16 

A -- stated.  What I discussed with the solicitor at 17 

various times was that he was very young, although 18 

he had a substantial criminal history of -- at a 19 

young age.  Basically, some of what I stated to the 20 

Court in the plea hearing -- it -- it's in the 21 

transcript.   22 

So I brought up his age.  I brought up the 23 

fact that I was convinced he was an addict.  I –- I 24 

raised the subject of what evidence do you really 25 
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have that he's involved in a substantial way in the 1 

drug trade as opposed to being part of a  -- just a 2 

culture of taking and using drugs.  But Mr. Wylie's 3 

criminal history and, I guess, the attitude that 4 

law enforcement in Cherokee County had about his -- 5 

him and his activities, could not be overcome with 6 

any -- I don't think there was anything I could 7 

have told them in -- in by way of background or 8 

mitigation that would have got them to come below 9 

15 years.   10 

It was -- we were probably lucky, because they 11 

threatened to seek a life without parole sentence 12 

even at that young age.  And I –- I greatly 13 

disagreed with that tactic, and I expressed it to 14 

them, but they were -- we were under threat if we 15 

didn't accept the 15-year negotiation that they 16 

would serve a “life without parole” notice.   17 

Q And the decision to plead was ultimately Mr. 18 

Wylie's, correct?   19 

A Yes.   20 

Q Okay.  You've -- at least from your observations, 21 

knew what he was doing by pleading?   22 

A Yes.  He didn't like it, but he -- he knew, 23 

precisely, that -- that the judge would either 24 

accept the negotiation, and he would receive a 15-25 
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year sentence, or the judge would not accept the 1 

negotiation, and we would then face at least the 2 

risk of being served with a life notice.   3 

MS. MARTO:  No further questions, Your Honor.   4 

THE COURT:  (To Mr. Richey)  Any redirect?   5 

MR. RICHEY:  No other questions.   6 

THE COURT:  All right.  You may step down.  7 

Thank you, sir.   8 

   (WHEREUPON, the witness was excused.)  9 

THE COURT:  All right.  Any other witnesses, 10 

Mr. Richey?   11 

MR. RICHEY:  No, sir.   12 

THE COURT:  All right.  Anything from the 13 

State?   14 

MS. MARTO:  No, Your Honor.   15 

THE COURT:  All right.  All right.  Anything 16 

else from the parties?   17 

MR. RICHEY:  No, sir.   18 

MS. MARTO:  No, Your Honor.  19 

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you both.  I 20 

will take this under advisement.  21 

MS. MARTO:  Thank you, Your Honor.   22 

(Whereupon the within hearing was 23 

concluded at 11:06 a.m.) 24 

(*This transcript may contain quoted material. 25 
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Such material is reproduced as read or quoted 1 

by the speaker.) 2 
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